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NOTICE OF REMOVAL 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

RACHEL DOSSEY, and LOUISE TANG, on 
behalf of themselves, and on behalf of all 
others similarly situated, 

 
Plaintiffs, 
 

v. 
 
SKINNYPOP POPCORN LLC, AND DOES 1-

100, inclusive, 
 

Defendants.  
 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
 
 
 
 

Case No.  
 
SKINNYPOP POPCORN LLC’S 
NOTICE OF REMOVAL 
 
 
[Declarations of Andrew Friedman and J. 
Noah Hagey filed concurrently]  
 
 
 

   

J. Noah Hagey Esq. (SBN: 262331) 
 hagey@braunhagey.com 
Matthew Borden, Esq. (SBN: 214323) 

borden@braunhagey.com 
Allyson Fair, Esq. (SBN: 287926) 

fair@braunhagey.com 
BRAUNHAGEY & BORDEN LLP 
220 Sansome Street, Second Floor 
San Francisco, CA 94104 
Telephone:  (415) 599-0210 
Facsimile:  (415) 276-1808 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT 
SKINNYPOP POPCORN LLC 
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 2  

NOTICE OF REMOVAL 

TO THE CLERK OF THE UNITED STATES DISRICT COURT OF THE 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA: 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Defendant SkinnyPop Popcorn LLC (“SkinnyPop”) hereby 

removes this action from the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of San Mateo 

to the United States District Court for the Northern District of California pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 

1332, 1441, 1446, and 1453.  In accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 1446(a), set forth below is a 

statement of the grounds for removal. 

INTRODUCTION 

1. By no later than October 2013, Plaintiffs’ lawyers began soliciting clients to sue 

SkinnyPop through trolling social media and mailing letters to purchasers of SkinnyPop popcorn 

asking them if they would like participate in a lawsuit.   

2. On February 3, 2014, Plaintiffs Rachel Dossey and Louise Tang (collectively, 

“Plaintiffs”) filed this action against SkinnyPop, entitled Rachel Dossey and Louise Tang, on 

behalf of themselves, and on behalf of all others similarly situated v. SkinnyPop Popcorn LLC, and 

Does 1-100, inclusive, Case No. CIV 526548, in the Superior Court of the State of California for 

the County of San Mateo.   

3. On February 3, 2014 SkinnyPop received a copy of the Complaint, Civil Case Cover 

Sheet, Summons, and Notice of Case Management Conference.  True and correct copies of these 

documents and attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 

4. The Complaint purports to allege causes of action against SkinnyPop for violation of 

California Business and Professions Code §§ 17200 and 17500 et seq., and the Consumer Legal 

Remedies Act § 1770 et seq., based on SkinnyPop’s alleged improper labeling of its packaged 

popcorn products.  

5. On February 6, 2014 SkinnyPop filed an Answer denying the allegations in the 

Complaint and reserving a number of affirmative defenses, including its right to remove this action 

to federal Court.  A true and correct copy of the Answer is attached hereto as Exhibit 2. 

6. On February 18, 2014, Plaintiffs filed a demurrer to SkinnyPop’s affirmative 

defenses.  A true and correct copy of the Demurrer is attached hereto as Exhibit 3. 

Case4:14-cv-01005-JSW   Document1   Filed03/04/14   Page2 of 7



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 3  

NOTICE OF REMOVAL 

7. On February 20, 2014 the Clerk of the Superior Court of the State of California for 

the County of San Mateo designated this action as complex and set a Complex Case Status 

Conference for April 22, 2014.  A true and correct copy of this Notice is attached hereto as Exhibit 

4. 

FEDERAL JURISIDICTION EXISTS UNDER THE CLASS ACTION FAIRNESS ACT 

8. This action is removable to this Court because federal diversity jurisdiction exists 

over Plaintiffs’ claims under the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005 (“CAFA”), codified at 28 

U.S.C. § 1332(d) and 1453.  CAFA was passed to facilitate the removal of extortive “class action” 

claims to the Federal Courts.  In explaining why CAFA was a necessary reform, the Senate Report 

stated: 

The current rules governing federal jurisdiction have the unintended 
consequence of keeping most class actions out of federal court, even 
though most class actions are precisely the type of case for which diversity 
jurisdiction was created.  In addition, current law enables plaintiffs' 
lawyers who prefer to litigate in state courts to easily “game the system” 
and avoid removal of large interstate class actions to federal court. 
 

S. REP. 109-14, 10, 2005 U.S.C.C.A.N. 3, 11. 

9. CAFA provides for removal if: (1) the proposed class consists of 100 or more 

members; (2) the aggregate amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000, exclusive of interests and 

costs; and (3) any member of the proposed plaintiff class is a citizen of a different state than any 

defendant.  See 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d)(2), (d)(5), (d)(6), and § 1453(b).  Each of these elements is 

present here. 

A. This Case is a Putative Class Action with Over 100 Proposed Class Members 

10. The Court has CAFA jurisdiction because this lawsuit is a putative class action and 

the proposed class comprises more than 100 individuals. 

11. CAFA jurisdiction exists over any “class action” brought under any “State statute or 

rule of judicial procedure authorizing an action to be brought by 1 or more representative persons 

as a class action.”  28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(1)(B).  This case constitutes as “class action” because the 

Complaint seeks certification of a class pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure § 382, a 

state statute that authorizes class actions if the representative plaintiff can prove that the “parties are 

Case4:14-cv-01005-JSW   Document1   Filed03/04/14   Page3 of 7



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 4  

NOTICE OF REMOVAL 

numerous, and it is impracticable to bring them all before the court, one or more may sue or defend 

for the benefit of all.”  Thus, this action qualifies as a class action under CAFA. 

12. CAFA jurisdiction exists unless “the number of members of all proposed plaintiff 

classes in the aggregate is less than 100.”  28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(5)(A).  CAFA defines class 

members as “the persons (named or unnamed) who fall within the definition of the proposed or 

certified class in a class action.”  28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(1)(D).  This requirement is met here because 

Plaintiffs seek to represent a class of “all residents of California who, within the last four years, 

purchased a Defendant brand … in California” (Ex. 1 ¶ 57) and allege that “it is estimated that the 

Class numbers in the thousands, and that joinder of all Class members is impracticable.”  (Id. ¶ 59.)  

Thus, on the face of the pleadings there are more than 100 members in Plaintiffs’ proposed class. 

13. Further, as demonstrated in the Declaration of Andrew Friedman (“Friedman 

Decl.”), filed concurrently with this Notice, Defendant’s sales records indicate that the purported 

class comprises more than 100 individuals.  (Friedman Decl. ¶ 3.) 

B. The Aggregate Amount in Controversy Exceeds $5,000,000 

14. Under CAFA, “the claims of individual class members shall be aggregated to 

determine whether the matter in controversy exceeds the sum or value of $5,000,000, exclusive of 

interests and costs.”  28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(6).  In determining the amount in controversy, “a court 

must assume that the allegations in the complaint are true and assume that a jury will return a 

verdict for the plaintiff on all claims made in the complaint.”  Fong v. Regis Corp., No. C 13-04497 

RS, 2014 WL 26996, *2 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 2, 2014).   

15. Where, as here, a complaint does not specify the amount in controversy, the 

defendant must show “by a preponderance of the evidence, that the amount in controversy exceeds 

the statutory amount.”  Lewis v. Verizon Commc’ns, Inc., 627 F.3d 395, 397 (9th Cir. 2010).  The 

Friedman Declaration establishes the amount in controversy exceeds the jurisdictional limit.  

Abrego Abrego v. The Dow Chem. Co., 443 F.3d 676, 690 (9th Cir. 2006) (courts may consider 

“summary-judgment-type evidence relevant to the amount in controversy at the time of removal”). 

16. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of a purported California class of consumers 

consisting of “all residents of California who, within the last four years, purchased a Defendant 
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 5  

NOTICE OF REMOVAL 

brand…in California” (Ex. 1 ¶ 57), and seek “an order enjoining Defendant from further unlawful 

or deceptive conduct.”  (Id. ¶ 4.)  Plaintiffs further seek “compensatory damages and restitution, 

with interest, for the amounts paid by consumers for SkinnyPop popcorn products” from February 

2010 to February 2014, because each Plaintiff “would not have purchased the product has she 

known the truth about its misleading labeling.” (Id., ¶¶ 4-6 [mis-numbered as ¶¶ 1-2].)   

17. SkinnyPop denies Plaintiffs’ false allegations of liability, injury, and damages and 

will oppose certification of the putative class.  However, taking Plaintiffs’ allegations to be true, 

this is a “civil action in which the matter in controversy exceeds the sum or value of $5,000,000.”  

28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2). 

18. The relief, damages, restitution and attorneys’ fees claimed by the class 

representatives for treatment on a class basis for all California consumer for the four-year period 

beginning February 2010 through February 2014 would easily exceed $5,000,000, provided such 

remedies were granted in full as demanded in the Complaint: 

a. The costs of revising its products labeling, and destroying old labeling as demanded 

in the Complaint, as further detailed in the Declaration of Andrew Friedman filed 

under seal with the Court; 

b. Refunding the full purchase price to all putative class members during the claimed 

class period from February 2010 to February 2014, as further detailed in the 

Declaration of Andrew Friedman filed under seal with the Court; 

c. Plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees, which they will demand are no less than $2.5 million 

following trial.  (Declaration of J. Noah Hagey (“Hagey Decl.”) ¶ 5.) 

19. Based on the foregoing, the amount in controversy requirement is clearly met.  

C. All Class Members are Citizens of a Different State than Defendant 

20. CAFA jurisdiction is present where “any member of a class of plaintiffs is a citizen 

of a State different from any defendant.”  28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A).  That requirement is met here 

because Defendant is a Chicago-based corporation, and Plaintiffs (and the putative class) are all 

citizens of California.  (Compl. ¶¶ 1, 5-7 [mis-numbered ¶¶ 1-3].) 
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 6  

NOTICE OF REMOVAL 

21. “[A] corporation shall be deemed to be a citizen of every State and foreign state by 

which is has been incorporated and of the State or foreign state where it has its principal place of 

business.”  28 U.S.C. § 1332(c)(1).  Plaintiffs allege, “SkinnyPop Popcorn LLC is an Illinois 

Limited Liability Company with its principal place of business in Skokie, Illinois.”  (Ex. 1, ¶ 7 

[mis-numbered as ¶ 3].) 

22. Plaintiffs also allege Plaintiff Dossey “is a California citizen who resides in San 

Francisco County” and that Plaintiff Tang “is a California citizen who resides in San Mateo 

County.”  (Ex. 1, ¶¶ 5,6 [mis-numbered as ¶¶ 1,2].)   

23. As such, at least one plaintiff is diverse from at least one defendant, and there is 

minimal diversity under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A).   

D. None of the CAFA Exceptions Apply 

24. This action does not fall within any exclusions to removal jurisdiction recognized by 

28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(3), (4), and (9), or 28 U.S.C. § 1453(d).   

25. Under § 1332(d)(3), a court may decline to exercise jurisdiction over a class action 

where “greater than one-third but less than two-thirds of the members of all proposed plaintiff 

classes in the aggregate and the primary defendants are citizens of the State in which the action was 

originally filed…” Here, because Plaintiffs allege a California-only class, greater than two-third of 

the members of the proposed class are citizens of California.  Therefore, this section does not 

apply. 

26. 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(4)(A) requires a district court to decline jurisdiction where, 

among other things, “greater than two-thirds of the members of all proposed plaintiff classes in the 

aggregate are citizens of the State in which the action was originally filed…and at least 1 defendant 

in a defendant…who is a citizen of the State in which the action was originally filed…”  Similarly, 

§ 1332(d)(4)(B) requires a district court to decline jurisdiction where “two-third or more of the 

members of all proposed classes in the aggregate, and the primary defendants, are citizens of the 

state in which the action was originally filed.”  Here, no defendant is a citizen of California, and 

therefore neither of these sections applies. 
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 7  

NOTICE OF REMOVAL 

27. Under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(9)(A), (B), and (C), CAFA does not apply to the 

following categories of actions: (1) “concerning a covered security”; (2) “that relates to the internal 

affairs or governance of a corporation or other form of business enterprise”; (3) “that relates  to the 

rights, duties (including fiduciary duties), and obligations related to or created by  or pursuant to 

any security…”.  This action does not fall within any of these categories, therefore this exception 

does not apply. 

E. The Procedural Requirements Are Satisfied 

28. 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a) allows civil actions brought in state court to be removed to the 

district court “embracing the place where such action is pending.” The Complaint was filed and 

currently is pending in the California Superior Court for the County of San Mateo.  This District is 

the proper venue for this action upon removal pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a) because it is the 

District that embraces the county where the state court action was pending. 

29. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1446(a), copies of all process, pleadings, and orders are 

attached hereto as Exhibits 1-4.  A copy of the state court docket is attached hereto as Exhibit 5. 

30. SkinnyPop will serve written notice of the removal of this action upon all parties 

promptly and will file such notice with the Clerk of the Superior Court of the State of California for 

the County of San Mateo. 

CONCLUSION 

31. WHEREFORE, Defendant SkinnyPop Popcorn LLC hereby removes this case from 

the California Superior Court for the County of San Mateo, to this federal district court. 

 

Dated:  March 4, 2014     BRAUNHAGEY & BORDEN LLP 

 

  By:  /s      

   J. Noah Hagey 
 

      Attorneys for SKINNYPOP POPCORN LLC 
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WILLIAM L. VEEN, NO. 043150
ANTHONY L. LABEL, NO. 205920
STEVEN A. KRONENBERG, NO. 215541
THE VEEN FIRM, P.C. 
711 Van Ness Avenue, Suite 220
San Francisco, CA 94102
P.O. Box 7296
San Francisco, CA 94120- 7296
Telephone: (415) 673- 4800
Facsimile: (415) 771- 5845
AL.TeamAVeenFirm.com

JONATHAN E. GERTLER, NO. 111531

DAN GILDOR, NO. 223027

SAMUEL CHEADLE, NO. 268595

CHAVEZ & GERTLER LLP
42 Miller Avenue

Mill Valley, California 94941
Telephone: ( 415) 381- 5599
Facsimile: ( 415) 381- 5572
jon(i4havezgertler. com
dan(a chavezgertler.com
sam(&,chavezgertler.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs and the Proposed Class

FILED
SAN MATEO COUNTY

FEB. 0 3 20% 
perki u ® rie Court

By

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN MATEO

UNLIMITED JURISDICTION

RACHEL DOSSEY, and LOUISE TANG, on ) CASE NO. 

behalf of themselves, and on behalf of all ) 

CLASS ACTION
others similarly situated, 

Plaintiffs, 

V. 

SKINNYPOP POPCORN, LLC, AND DOES
1 THROUGH 100, inclusive, 

Defendants. 

COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS OF
BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONS CODE
SECTION 17200 ET. SEQ.; CIVIL CODE
SECTION 1750 ET. SEQ.; THE
CONSUMERS LEGAL REMEDIES ACT
CIVIL CODE SECTION 1770 SEEKING
DAMAGES, RESITUTION AND
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
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INTRODUCTION

1. This is a class action brought on behalf of California consumers who have

purchased products marketed and sold by Defendant SkinnyPop Popcorn, LLC, a limited liability

corporation (" SkinnyPop" or "Defendant") since February 3, 2011 ( the " Class"). This action

challenges the unlawful, unfair and fraudulent business practices of Defendant in connection with

marketing and sale of products under the " Skinny Pop" brand. 

2. Defendant labels, advertises and promotes its products as being lower in calories

and fat than competing snack and " junk" foods.. Skinny Pop popcorn is advertised and promoted

by Defendant as a healthy snack that can help consumers lose weight. Despite Defendant' s

claims that its snack products are " low-fat" and " low -calorie," a serving of Skinny Pop is not

lower in fat or calories than Defendant' s full calorie products. Further, Skinny Pop products are

not lower in fat or calories than most market -leading, full calorie snack and " junk" foods. 

3. Defendant has knowledge of the false and misleading nature of its labeling, 

advertising and promotion of Skinny Pop popcorn. Nonetheless, to exploit and profit from the

fact that health claims increase product sales, Defendant has continued to falsely label and market

Skinny Pop popcorn. 

4. This action seeks compensatory damages and restitution, with interest, for the

amounts paid by consumers for Skinny Pop popcorn products fraudulently and deceptively

represented and labeled as low in fat and calories, in contrast to the product they purchased. 

Plaintiff also seeks an order enjoining Defendant from further unlawful or deceptive conduct, as

to Skinny Pop popcorn and other snack food products as to which SkinnyPop is violating the law, 

as well as attorneys' fees and costs. 

THE PARTIES

1. Plaintiff Rachel Dossey (" Ms. Dossey" or " Plaintiff') is a California citizen who

resides in San Francisco County. Plaintiff read some of Defendant' s misrepresentations which

were on the label prior to purchasing Skinny Pop popcorn, and relied on, and was deceived by, 

those misrepresentations and deceptive communications in purchasing Skinny Pop popcorn

2

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL\ 
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products in California. Plaintiff would not have purchased the product had she known the truth

about its misleading labeling. 

2. Plaintiff Louise Tang (" Ms. Tang" or " Plaintiff') is a California citizen who

resides in San Mateo County. Plaintiff read some of Defendant' s misrepresentations which were

on the label prior to purchasing Skinny Pop popcorn, and relied on, and was deceived by, those

misrepresentations and deceptive communications in purchasing Skinny Pop popcorn products in

San Mateo County, California, and elsewhere. Plaintiff would not have purchased the product

had she known the truth about its misleading labeling. 

3. Defendant SkinnyPop Popcorn, LLC is an Illinois Limited Liability Company with

its principal place of business in Chicago, Illinois. 

4. Plaintiff does not know the true names and capacities of Defendants sued herein as

DOES 1- 100 and therefore sues these Defendants by fictitious names. Plaintiff will amend this

complaint to state the true names and capacities when ascertained. Plaintiff is informed and

believes and on that basis alleges that each of the fictitiously -named Defendants is responsible in

some manner for the occurrences alleged herein, and thereby proximately caused Plaintiff' s

injuries alleged herein. 

5. Plaintiff is informed and believes and on that basis alleges that each of the

Defendants acted in concert with each and every other Defendant, intended to and did participate

in the events, acts, practices and courses of conduct alleged herein, and proximately caused

damage and injury thereby to Plaintiff and members of the Class as alleged herein. 

6. At all times herein mentioned, each Defendant was the agent or employee of each

of the other Defendants and was acting within the course and scope of such agency or

employment. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. This Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiffs" and the Class claims because Defendant

regularly conducts business in California through the sale of Skinny Pop popcorn in California to

California consumers, and because the violations of law alleged herein occurred throughout the

State of California. 

3
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1 2. Venue is appropriate in the County of San Mateo because Ms.Tang resides in San

2 Mateo County, and purchased products within that county. 

3 FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS APPLICABLE TO ALL CLAIMS

4 13. Defendant labels, advertises, and promotes that its Skinny Pop popcorn products

5 are lower in calories and fat than other snack and " junk" foods and can help consumers lose

6 weight. This deceptive marketing scheme leads health -conscious adults and children into

7 purchasing Skinny Pop popcorn products instead of the healthy, alternative snack they are

8 actually seeking. In reality, the Skinny Pop popcorn products are no lower in fat or calories than

9 most market -leading, full calorie snacks. 

10 14. Defendant has knowledge that health and fitness claims increase product sales; 

11 that was its motive in creating its Skinny Pop popcorn products. Defendant sponsors CHAARG

12 ( Changing Health, Attitudes, and Actions to Recreate Girls), an organization dedicated to

13 promoting health and fitness for girls and women, and sponsors beauty pageants for girls and

14 women. 

15 15. Defendant' s marketing, advertising, and promotional strategies focus on providing

16 female bloggers with free product samples in exchange for writing product reviews that make

17 representations that Defendant cannot lawfully state on its own product labeling. Rather than

18 correcting erroneous and misleading " low fat" and " low calorie" representations, Defendant

19 adopts these misleading representations as its own in social media so it can profit from them. 

20 Invariably, these reviews express or imply that Skinny Pop popcorn is healthy, low in fat, and/or

21 low in calories, even though it is none of these. 

22 16. For example, Defendant adopted, promoted, and profited from a product

23 reviewer' s representation that it was a good idea for parents to feed an entire 700 -calorie bag of

24 Skinny Pop ( containing 45 grams of fat, about 70% of an entire Daily Value) to their young

25 children, saying: 

26

27

28

4
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Tuesday pIX012. 2013

sh;zy,_IPX_W 
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chance to be allle to check out shinny Pop No [ fits is not a sada. it is POPCORN. 
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all by herself d rOX"hib"' I sht kers i64g nM r=, Routh she hiv?d t and that if t;33 so

gc ao So eirlea that she Ickes 3ortemrt3 lh3l r; good 07 he' too 1 kntra 35 Car (TrySe7 d
vas ( Winking ok so Iney say that it +t: only 39 ca'oiies a servng .l must taste like
caidwara like those Me snack ln,gs taste tea'•y teXly gow even IN
pc k)' ou_ bona Irked it too
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is okay to eat an entire bag, because the product purportedly is low in calories: "[ Oh my God]!!! I

accidentally ate the whole thing!!! Luckily it' s " SKINNY! W' 

Like Comment

0,1  Skinny Pop
Ti%a-.. " lb. ehcar 5063! to, :.Se les. Mroat SNC : m M of edw
A. Cr Feer  a Y E cer-: m b Y+i Erxr a : ( Pa -' s : tis vsy krab; 

Skinny Pop
Cat lt30. ? 

ac6dentaly ate the vft thing" tuckky Ws SKltgW

https:// www. facebook.com/photo.php?fbid=45426328533 8& set= a.430124680338.225249

377584220338& type= l &permPage= 1

19. Pursuant to the Sherman Law, California has expressly adopted the federal

labeling requirements as its own and indicated that "[ a] ll food labeling regulations and any

amendments to those regulations adopted pursuant to the federal act, in effect on January 1, 1993, 

or adopted on or after that date shall be the food regulations of this state." California Health & 

Safety Code § 110100. 

20. Pursuant to Section 403 of the FDCA, a claim that characterizes the level of a

nutrient in a food is a " nutrient content claim" that must be made in accordance with the

regulations that authorize the use of such claims. 21 U.S.C. § 343( r)( 1)( A). California expressly

adopted the requirements of 21 U.S. C. § 343( r) in § 110670 of the Sherman Law. 

I /// 
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21. Nutrient content claims are claims about specific nutrients contained in a product. 

They are typically made on food packaging in a font large enough to be read by the average

consumer. Because consumers rely upon these claims when making purchasing decisions, the

regulations govern what claims can be made in order to prevent misleading claims. 

22. Section 403( r)( 1)( A) of the FDCA governs the use of expressed and implied

nutrient content claims on labels of food products that are intended for sale for human

consumption. See 21 C.F.R. § 101. 13. 

23. 21 C.F.R. § 10 1. 13 provides the general requirements for nutrient content claims, 

which California has expressly adopted. California Health & Safety Code § 110100. 

24. An " expressed nutrient content claim" is defined as any direct statement about the

level ( or range) of a nutrient in the food (e. g., " low sodium" or " contains 100 calories"). See 21

C.F.R. § 101. 13( b)( 1). 

25. An " implied nutrient content claim" is defined as any claim that: ( i) describes the

food or an ingredient therein in a manner that suggests that a nutrient is absent or present in a

certain amount (e. g., " high in oat bran"); or ( ii) suggests that the food, because of its nutrient

content, may be useful in maintaining healthy dietary practices and is made in association with an

explicit claim or statement about a nutrient (e. g., " healthy, contains 3 grams (g) of fat"). 21

C.F.R. § 101. 13( b)( 2)( i- ii). 

26. FDA regulations authorize use of a limited number of defined nutrient content

claims. In addition to authorizing the use of only a limited set of defined nutrient content terms

on food labels, FDA' s regulations authorize the use of only certain synonyms for these defined

terms. If a nutrient content claim or its synonym is not included in the food labeling regulations it

cannot be used on a label. Only those claims, or their synonyms, that are specifically defined in

the regulations may be used. All other claims are prohibited. 21 C.F.R. § 101. 13( b). 

27. Only approved nutrient content claims will be permitted on the food label, and all

other nutrient content claims will institute misbranding of a food. It is clear which claims are

prohibited and which are permitted. Manufacturers are on notice that the use of an unapproved

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL\ 
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nutrient content claim is prohibited conduct. 58 FR 2302. In addition, 21 USC 343( r)(2) 

prohibits using unauthorized undefined terms and declares foods that do so to be misbranded. 

28. Defendant has violated these referenced regulations. Accordingly, Defendant' s

misbranded food products are unlawful. 

29. During the statutory period, Defendant' s labeling represented that its popcorn was

I I " low calorie": 

ALL NATURAL
LOW CALORIE

0 CHOLESTEROL FREE
TRANS FAT FREE
DAIRY FREE

PEANUT FREE
TREE NUT FREE

a

GLUTEN FREE , 
PRESERVATIVE FREE

0 NON GMO

A GREAT SOURCE

OF FIBER

and DELICIOUS! , 
i

c yp gg

S" W'A'V , , ; Z; i $aAWF. ft   , " ' , ' ' , 
Per

Pff

136IMM 1.410 ' 

ffl% 16

LOW CALOrIll; 

http:// runeatplayblog.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/ 04/0302.jpg

30. Under 21 C.F.R. § 101. 60(b)( 2)( i)( A), the label of a food with a serving size of 30

grams or less can state that it is " low calorie" only if it "does not provide more than 40 calories

per reference amount customarily consumed [" RACC"], and .... per 50 [ grams]." See 21 C.F.R. 

8
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1

I § 101. 12( b). The reference amount customarily consumed (RACC) for popcorn is 30 grams. 21

2 C.F. R. § 101. 12( b). 

3 31. Defendant does not meet these " low calorie" criteria. The Nutrition Facts for

4 Defendant' s former label ( above) provide that a 28 -gram serving of Skinny Pop popcorn

5 contained 135 calories (about 145 calories per RACC and 241 calories per 50 grams), which is far

6 more than the 40 calories per RACC limitation for a " low calorie" food. Defendant' s current

7 Nutrition Facts panel represents that it provides 155 calories per 28 -gram serving ( 166 calories

8 per RACC and 277 calories per 50 grams): 

9

10 h, I 1 1pnFa

aaCtS
par,gsU,cr dbW 4.5

cworw 15S Wodw from Fat a0

12 %° `
aw' 

Tont Fat 109 16$6
SeturBted fat 19 576

13 m" Fat o9

001169tw6l0m9 076

14 s0dlam 50mg 2% 

TOM CwbOrldmiv 15g 696

15
MtW Feer 3g 1295

S+rR 09
Rion 2g

16 ( Ydertlln A 0% • 0% 

t:awUm 096 • 
Iran 4% 

i
17

3Aoa aam

mono x
Wo aun

19 0" FbW

20

21 /// 

22 /// 

23 /// 

24

25

26 /// 

27 /// 
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32. Defendant understood that its product labeling violated 21 C.F.R. § 

101. 60(b)( 2)( i)( A), which is why it recently deleted the express " LOW CALORIE" claim: 

ALL NATURAL

LOW CALORIE
r ALL

4T URAL

CHOLESTEROL FREE

CHOLEs>&
RoL FREE

TRANSr ZERO pATr

TRANS FAT FREE DAIRY FREE

DAIRY FREE s PEANUT FREE
PEANUT FREE r TREE NOT FREE
TREE NUT FREE GLUTEN FREE 1
GLUTEN FREE

r
PRESERVATIVE FREE

l
PRESERVATIVE FREE i SON GM4  
NON GMO

p GOOD SOURCE
A GREAT SOURCE pFFIBER

OF FIBER
ed DELICIOUS! n

and DELICIOUS! 

http:// runeatplayblog.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/0302.jpg

http:// 2.bp.blogspot.com/- 
t81QOOGZsyw/UT_1NnVNNOUAAAAAAAABG4/M1urF_rNNOw/sl600/ 13+-+ 5 jpg

33. However, Defendant' s Facebook page continues to make the false, misleading, and

unlawful claim that Skinny Pop popcorn is a " LOW CALORIE" food: 

Y

r

Skinny Pop
0", - JiR Ak,. g b i thr

PNi/ Dlti'el? 

t

Y a 1 
ALL NATURAL • LOW CALORIE . CHOLESTEROL FREE
TRANS FAT FREE - DAIRY FREE • PEANUT FREE . TREE , 1, 

NUT FREE • QUTEN FREE • 
16Ai - I ' 

AbWA Rwms Score Locator

10

L. 4 ince ( - 

dS 8,277 1

UWS $— S-9 K[ Ca test
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ALL NATURAL * LOW CALORIE • CHOLESTEROL FREE • 

TRANS FAT FREE • DAIRY FREE • PEANUT FREE * TREE

NUT FREE * GLUTEN FLEE • 

https:// www.facebook.com/SkinnyPopPopcom

34. The " LOW CALORIE" representation on Defendant' s Facebook page is just one

example of its pattern and practice of making false and misleading health claims through social

media to attempt to circumvent proscriptions against stating these claims directly on product

labels. Defendant understands that its popcorn contains far too much fat to qualify for a " healthy" 

labeling claim under 21 CFR § 101. 65( d)( 2). Defendant also understands that most consumers do

not distinguish among health claims based on whether they are made in labeling, advertising, or

promotions, so Defendant simply posts on Twitter and Facebook that Skinny Pop popcorn is a

perfect compliment [ sic] to a healthy lifestyle", and " healthy" 

SRInnyPop Popcom 1I Fallow

A61HyPOp is just g9ca]ories1k{rc 1P, 1JW
Perfect rumplilncnl tc; l healtllr lifestyle

pic.hvyl tcr.com/ t g%-043 i%"zL
Ral, 0 A' M. 11 * Fz-wa YYY U0. 

iu

mm

S" Ovowt0K Mott / i] 

Thank you

for making
my favorite
indulgence
healthy!" 

ALrxA D. 

i

35. Defendant' s labeling falsely, misleadingly, and deliberately continues to imply that

its products are low in calories and fails to disclose that Skinny Pop products are not low calorie

or low fat foods. An " implied" nutrient content claim is, inter alfa, a claim that suggests that a

II
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nutrient is absent or present in a certain amount. 21 C. F.R. §§ 10 1. 13( b)( 2)( i), ( ii). To prevent

misleading consumers, products that ( a) are not low in calories and ( b) make an implied low

calorie claim must prominently disclaim that the product is " not a low calorie food." 21 C. F.R. § 

101. 13( i)( 2). Defendant fails to provide this disclaimer; its PDP still misleadingly represents that

Skinny Pop popcorn contains " ONLY 39 CALORIES PER CUP" without disclaiming that the

product is " not a low calorie food": 

I\ 
1 

AL kkil JA j _ 

UI T
RH

4.4m042 

36. On April 2, 2012, the FDA published a Warning Letter that products failing to

print the proper disclaimer were misbranded: 

L

a low calorie 1000. A --low calone,- claim may De mane it a Iooa Wltn a
reference amount customarily consumed (RACC) of 30g or less does not
provide more than 40 calories per RACC and, except for sugar substitutes, per
50g. The RACC for cookies is 30g (see 21 CFR 101. 12( b), Table 2). Based on

your Lucky Taco Mexican Fortune Cookie and Lucky Cruncher Cookie product
labels, a 5g serving of these products contain 30 and 19 calories, respectively; 
this equals about 180 and 114 calories per RACC, and about 300 and 190
calories per 50g, respectively. Therefore. under 21 CFR 101. 13( 1)( 2), the

meaning

12
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37. The adjacent disclaimer required under 21 C.F.R. § 101. 13( i)( 2) prevents

manufacturers from misrepresenting that their products contain fewer calories than competing

products. It also helps consumers avoid overeating, a particular concern of weight -conscious

individuals buying and eating a product to help them become or stay " skinny." Tellingly, a

serving of Skinny Pop popcorn contains amounts of fat and calories comparable to or greater than

many market -leading full -calorie junk foods. 

38. Although the Skinny Pop PDP states that the popcorn contains " ONLY 39

CALORIES PER CUP," a serving of Skinny Pop popcorn is four times this volume. The stated

serving size is 28 grams, which is " about 4 cups": 

aboa+t4a pe 

ParCantafwr about4.8

Calories from Fat 80

taf Fat tog 18 

Sanuated Fat 19 5% 

30 3ft

39. Defendant reinforces the false, misleading, and unlawful implied low calorie claim

with other representations in its labeling, advertising, and promotional practices. The product

name is " Skinny" Pop. Defendant' s company name is " SkinnyPop Popcorn, LLC." The product

label states it is " Popped Skinny": 

13
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SkinnyPop Popcorn LLC
Chicago, IL 60652

skinnypop,com, 
8885 -POPCORN

Popped Skinny in the USA

40. Defendant' s labeling misleadingly and repeatedly represents it is " cholesterol

free": 

NET WT 6S QZGa0 6

6Z ti

e 
r lyli 

While it may be technically true that Skinny Pop is " cholesterol free," this claim is

misleading, because popcorn is an inherently cholesterol free food. Defendant' s representation

misleadingly implies that ( a) Skinny Pop popcorn has been processed or modified to remove

cholesterol that was never there in the first instance, and/ or ( b) other popcorn contains cholesterol. 

Defendant' s representation violates 21 C. F. R. § 101. 61( b)( 1)( iii) that requires it to qualify the

cholesterol free" claim by stating that popcorn is " a cholesterol free food." 

14
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While it may be technically true that Skinny Pop is " cholesterol free," this claim is

misleading, because popcorn is an inherently cholesterol free food. Defendant' s representation

misleadingly implies that ( a) Skinny Pop popcorn has been processed or modified to remove

cholesterol that was never there in the first instance, and/ or ( b) other popcorn contains cholesterol. 

Defendant' s representation violates 21 C. F. R. § 101. 61( b)( 1)( iii) that requires it to qualify the

cholesterol free" claim by stating that popcorn is " a cholesterol free food." 

14
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41. During the statutory period, Defendant' s labeling asserted that its popcorn was a

great" source of fiber: 

1 ` 

A GREAT SOURCE
OF FIBER

The FDA does not authorize manufacturers to represent that a product is a " great" source

of any nutrient. A product that contains 20% or more of the RDI (recommended daily intake) or

DRV (daily recommended value) may only claim that it is " high," " rich in," or an " excellent

source of a nutrient. 21 CFR §§ 101. 54( a)( 1), ( b). 

42. Even if one deemed " great" to be synonymous with the approved terms " high," 

I " rich in," or an " excellent source of," fiber, Skinny Pop popcorn has never provided 20% or more

of the Daily Value for fiber. 21 CFR § 101. 54(b). Defendant' s labeling concedes that a serving

of its popcorn provides only 12% of the Daily Value for fiber. Defendant understood that its

products violated 21 CFR § 101. 54(b), which is why it recently changed its label to note that the

product was only a " good" source of fiber without disclosing to consumers that it previously

misled them: 

aEOOD SOURCE

OF FIBER

43. However, even if Skinny Pop popcorn meets the 10% Daily Value requirement for

a " good" source of fiber claim under 21 CFR § 101. 54( c), Defendant' s product labeling fails to

disclose its excessive fat content next to the fiber claim, in violation of 21 CFR § 101. 54( d). 

Under that regulation, a product that claims it is' a good source of fiber that also is not " low" in

total fat as defined by 21 CFR § 101. 62( b)( 2)( i)( B) ( i. e., containing three grams of fat or less per

RACC and per 50 grams), must disclose the level of total fat per labeled serving, e.g., "contains

10 grams of total fat per serving. See nutrition information for fat content." That disclosure must

appear in immediate proximity to" the fiber claim and be " in a type size no less than one-half the

size of the claim." 21 CFR § 101. 54( c)( 2). As Skinny Pop popcorn contains 10 grams of fat per

serving (and almost 18 grams of fat per 50 grams), it is not a " low" fat food under 21 CFR

101. 62( b)( 2)( i)( B). Defendant' s claim that its popcorn is a good source of fiber based on a four - 

15
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cup serving is also misleading and inconsistent with the PDP' s representation of "ONLY 39

I I CALORIES PER CUP." 

44. Defendant intentionally misleads consumers about the amount of fiber in a serving

of its popcorn. Although Defendant revised the product packaging to acknowledge that it was

only a " good" source of fiber, its Facebook page recently added the false representation that its

product was a " great" source of fiber: 

ALL NATURAL • LOW CALORIE • CHOLESTEROL FREE • 

TRANS FAT FREE • DAIRY FREE • PEANUT FREE • TREE

NUT FREE ; GLUTEN FREE • 

https:// www.facebook.com/ SkinnyPopPopcom (visited 9/ 29/ 13). 

ALL NATURAL • LOIN CALORIE • CHOLESTEROL FREE • TRANS FAT FREE • DAIRY FREE • 

PEANUT FREE • TREE NUT FREE • GLUTEN FREE • 

NON GMO • PRESERVATIVE FREE • A GREAT SOURCE OF FIBER

https:// www.facebook.com/ SkinnyPopPopcom (visited 11/ 12/ 13). 

45. The amounts of calories and fat in a serving of Skinny Pop popcorn are greater

than many full -calorie popcorn and non -popcorn snack foods: 

a. A single cup of Skinny Pop popcorn has " ONLY 39 CALORIES," while one cup

of Orville Redenbacher' s ® Movie Theater Butter flavor microwave popcorn has 30 calories. A

serving of Skinny Pop popcorn has comparable calories and fat to Orville Redenbacher' s

Movie Theater Butter flavor microwave popcorn: 

16
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Nutrition Facts
Ser>nng Size 21bsp (35g) unpopped

makes about a cups popped) 
Servings Per:; about 2.5
Seldpigsperoft a1w 15

re 0wia0 ft= pomw

Calais 160 30
Calories from Fat 80 20

084vaw- 

Tofel Fat 99' 14% 3 

Saturated Fat 4g 20% 5% 

Orville Redenbacher' s ® is the "# 1 name in popcorn." 

http://www.conagrafoodservice.com/products—and—brands/Popcom.do

b. A serving of Skinny Pop popcorn has more calories and amounts of fat and

saturated fat that are comparable to the full -calorie Bacon Ranch flavor of Popcorn, Indiana

popcorn, and more calories and fat, and the same amount of saturated fat as a serving of Tostitos

the top-selling full -calorie corn tortilla chips: 

SKI NY ixca ska

Pe

10

BACON RANCH POPCORN — - --- - --- - 

F
aafOn 0q)wPContelner. about 4.5

r

Sarvle8155 Calories from Fat 80

D*' A„ a• 

Total Fat 109 16% 

Saturated Fat 19 596
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Nutrition Facts
Serving Size 1 oz (26glAbout 7 chips) 

Aenowd Per Serving
Calories 140 Calories from Fat 80

tty lhhu• 

Tata) Fat 7g 10% 

Saturated Fm tg ta'% 

Trans Fat 09
Cholesterol Omg
sodium 115mg 5% 

Total Carbohydrate tgg 9% 

Dietary Fiber I 9% 

Sugars Og
Protein 2g

Vitamin A 0% Vitamin C 0% 

SenMg Size. about 4aups " g) 
r -' CPeaerd

alchtrrl 2% Iron 2% 

Servings
Pcakft

er container- about 4.5
diet. Yourrddaily  es mar eahig or Imar

UL depe rg on your rats roads: 
Arrnrart Par ServurB Ubrbs: 2.000 z.soo

Calories 155 Calories from Fat SO
DaiyQw. 

Total Fat 109 if* 

Saturated Fat 1g 5% 

The calories and fat in a serving of Skinny Pop popcorn are comparable to Lays ®, the

top-selling potato chips, and are greater than in a serving of Corn Nuts ®, the market -leading corn

kernel snack: 

t. J

SKI NY
i

P . 
1

ate• 

r

nutrition Facts95
See about4cupa(28g) 

Senria Par Container, about4.5

Amwmtperamrdrrg _ 

Calories 155 Calories from Fat SO

Total Fat 109. 15% 

Classic

WN, 

Faftch" 

18

71

Nutrition Facts
serving slm 1 0: ( 26glADou1 15 dupe) 

Am" M Mr Hides

calod" 160 Cabrbs Imm Fat 90

ftftWa a- 

7btal Fat 10g to% 

Saturated Fat 1. 59 6% 

Trans Fat Og

Choleste" A Omg 0% 

sodhmr 170mg 796

Potaa dura 350mg to% 

Tbtal Carbohydrate 159 s% 

Dietary Fiber 1q 696

Sugars few than 1g
Protein 29

V118m1n A 0% Vitamin C 10% 

Calcium 0% Iran 2% 

Vitamin E 6% Thiamin d% 

Niedn 6% Vitamin as 10% 
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NutritionFacji
s S,ze about

p ContWwr. about4.5

pm ParSWVM0

Calories 1.55 Calories from Fat 80

al Fat 109 18% 

Saturated Fat 19 5% 

raw

46. Defendant has manufactured, advertised, distributed and sold products that are

misbranded under California law. Misbranded products cannot be legally manufactured, 

advertised, distributed, or sold or held and are legally worthless as a matter of law. 

47. Defendant has violated California Health & Safety Code §§ 109885 and 110390, 

which make it unlawful to disseminate false or misleading food advertisements that include

statements on products and product packaging or labeling or any other medium used to directly or

indirectly induce the purchase of a food product. 

48. Defendant has violated California Health & Safety Code § 110395 that makes it

unlawful to manufacture, sell, deliver, hold or offer to sell any misbranded food. 

49. Defendant has violated California Health & Safety Code § 110398 that makes it

unlawful to advertise any food that has been misbranded. 

50. Defendant has violated California Health & Safety Code § 110660, because its

food products are misbranded in one or more ways, as follows: 

a. They are misbranded under California Health & Safety Code § 110665, because

their labeling fails to conform to the requirements for nutrient labeling set forth in 21 U.S. C. § 

343( q) and the regulations adopted thereto; 

19
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I b. They are misbranded under California Health & Safety Code § 110670, because

2 their labeling fails to conform with the requirements for nutrient content and health claims set

3 forth in 21 U.S. C. § 343( r) and the regulations adopted thereto; and

4 C. They are misbranded under California Health & Safety Code § 110705, because

5 words, statements and other information required by the Sherman Law to appear on their labeling

6 either are missing or not sufficiently conspicuous. 

7 51. Defendant has violated California Health.& Safety Code § 110760 that makes it

8 unlawful for any person to manufacture, sell, deliver, hold, or offer for sale any food that is

9 misbranded. 

10 52. Defendant has violated California Health & Safety Code § 110765 that makes it

11 unlawful for any person to misbrand any food. 

12 53. Defendant has violated California Health & Safety Code § 110770 that makes it

13 unlawful for any person to receive in commerce any food that is misbranded or to deliver or

14 proffer for delivery any such food. 

15 54. Defendant has violated the standard set by 21 C.F.R. § 101. 2 that has been

16 incorporated by reference in the Sherman Law, by failing to include on their product labels the

17 nutritional information required by law. 

18 55. Defendant has violated the standards set by 21 C.F.R. §§ 101. 12, 101. 13, 101. 54, 

19 101. 56, 101. 60, 101. 61, 101. 62, and 101. 65 that have been adopted by reference in the Sherman

20 Law, by including unauthorized nutrient content claims on, and excluding required disclaimers

21 from, their products. 

22 CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

23 56. Plaintiffs bring this action as a class action on behalf of themselves and all other

24 persons similarly situated pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure § 382. Plaintiffs bring

25 this action in a representative capacity to remedy and put an end to the ongoing unlawful, unfair

26 and fraudulent business practices alleged herein, and to seek redress on behalf of all those persons

27 who have been affected thereby. 

28

20

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL\ 

Case4:14-cv-01005-JSW   Document1-1   Filed03/04/14   Page22 of 70



2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

57. This proposed Class is comprised of all residents of California who, within the last

four years, purchased a Defendant brand, unlawfully labeled product (the " Class") in California. 

Excluded from the Class are: ( a) officers, directors, and employees of Defendant, their

subsidiaries and affiliates; (b) counsel, and the immediate families of counsel, who represent

Plaintiffs in this action; (c) the judge presiding over this action; and ( d) jurors who are impaneled

to render a verdict on the claims alleged in this action. 

58. This action can be maintained as a class action, because there is a well-defined

community of interest in the litigation and the proposed Class. is easily ascertainable. 

59. Based upon Defendant' s publicly available sales data with respect to the

misbranded products at issue, it is estimated that the Class numbers in the thousands, and that

joinder of all Class members is impracticable. 

60. This action involves common questions of law and fact applicable to each Class

member that predominate over questions that affect only individual Class members. Thus, proof

of a common set of facts will establish the right of each Class member to recover. Questions of

law and fact common to each Class member include, for example: 

a. Whether Defendant engaged in unfair, unlawful or deceptive business practices by
failing to properly package and label their snack food products sold to consumers. 

b. Whether Defendant made unlawful and misleading nutrient content claims with
respect to their food products sold to consumers; 

C. Whether Defendant violated California Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq., 
California Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500 et seq., and/ or the Consumer Legal Remedies Act, Cal. 
Civ. Code § 1750 et seg., and the Sherman Law; and

d. Whether Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to restitution and/or injunctive relief, 

61. Plaintiffs' claims are typical of the Class, because Plaintiffs bought Defendant' s

Skinny Pop popcorn products during the Class Period; Defendant' s unlawful, unfair and/ or

fraudulent actions concern the same business practices described herein irrespective of where in

California they occurred or were experienced. Plaintiffs and the Class sustained similar harm

arising out of Defendant' s conduct in violation of California law. The injuries of each member of

the Class were caused directly by Defendant' s wrongful conduct. In addition, the factual

underpinning of Defendant' s misconduct is common to all Class members and represents a
21
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common thread of misconduct resulting in injury to all members of the Class. Plaintiff' s claims

arise from the same practices and course of conduct that give rise to the claims of the Class

members and are based on the same legal theories. 

62. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class. Neither

Plaintiffs nor Plaintiffs' counsel have any interests that conflict with or are antagonistic to the

interests of the Class members. Plaintiffs have retained highly competent and experienced class

action attorneys to represent their interests and those of the members of the Class. Plaintiffs and

Plaintiffs' counsel have the necessary financial resources to adequately and vigorously litigate

this class action, and Plaintiffs and counsel are aware of their fiduciary responsibilities to the

Class members and will diligently discharge those duties by vigorously seeking the maximum

possible recovery for the Class. 

63. The nature of this action and California law make a class action the superior and

appropriate procedure to afford relief for the wrongs alleged herein.. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

For Violation of Business and Professions Code, Sec. 17200, et seq., Re: Unlawful Business
Acts and Practices) 

64. Plaintiffs re -allege and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the

preceding paragraphs as though fully set forth herein. 

65. Defendant' s conduct constitutes unlawful business acts and practices. 

66. Defendant sold Misbranded Food Products in California during the Class Period. 

67. - Defendant is a Limited Liability Company and, therefore, is a " person" within the

meaning of the Sherman Law. 

68. Defendant' s business practices are unlawful under § 17200, et seq., by virtue of

Defendant' s violations of the advertising provisions of the Sherman Law (Article 3) and the

misbranded food provisions of the Sherman Law (Article 6). 

69. Defendant' s business practices are unlawful under § 17200, et seq., by virtue of

Defendant' s violations of § 17500, et seq., which forbids untrue and misleading advertising. 

Defendant' s business practices are unlawful under § 17200, et seq., by virtue of Defendant' s

violations of the Consumer Legal Remedies Act, Cal. Civ. Code § 1750, et seq. 
22
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1 70. Defendant sold Plaintiffs and the Class Misbranded Food Products that were not

2 capable of being sold or held legally, and which were legally worthless. 

3 71. As a result of Defendant' s unlawful business practices, Plaintiffs and the Class, 

4 pursuant to Business and Professions Code § 17203, are entitled to an order enjoining such future

5 conduct and such other orders and judgments which may be necessary to disgorge Defendant' s

6 ill-gotten gains and to restore to any Class Member any money paid for the Misbranded Food

7 Products. 

8 72. Defendant' s unlawful business acts present a threat and reasonable continued

9 likelihood of injury to Plaintiffs and the Class. 

10 73. As a result of Defendant' s conduct, Plaintiff and the Class, pursuant to Business

11 and Professions Code § 17203, are entitled to an order enjoining such future conduct by

12 Defendant, and such other orders and judgments which may be necessary to disgorge Defendant' s

13 ill-gotten gains and restore any money paid for Defendant' s misbranded Skinny Pop products to

14 Plaintiffs and the Class. 

15 SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

For Violation of Business and Professions Code § 17200, et seq., Re: Unfair Business
16 Acts and Practices) 

17 74. Plaintiffs re -allege and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the

18 preceding paragraphs as though fully set forth herein. 

19 75. Defendant' s conduct as set forth herein constitutes unfair business acts and

20 practices. 

21 76. Defendant sold misbranded food products in California during the Class Period. 

22 77. Plaintiffs and members of the Class suffered a substantial injury by virtue of

23 buying Defendant' s misbranded food products that they would not have purchased absent

24 Defendant' s illegal conduct as set forth herein. 

25 78. Defendant' s deceptive marketing, advertising, packaging and labeling of its

26 misbranded food products and its sale of unsalable misbranded food products that were illegal to

27 possess was of no benefit to consumers, and the harm to consumers and competition is

28 substantial. 

23
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79. Plaintiffs and the Class who purchased Defendant' s mishandled food products had

no way of reasonably knowing that the products were misbranded and were not properly

marketed, advertised, packaged and labeled, and thus could not have reasonably avoided the

I injury each of them suffered. 

80. The harmful consequences of Defendant' s conduct as set forth herein outweighs

any justification, motive or reason therefor. Defendant' s conduct is and continues to be illegal

and contrary to public policy, and is substantially injurious to Plaintiffs and the Class. 

81. As a result of Defendant' s conduct, Plaintiffs and the Class seek such relief as is

requested herein below. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

For Violation of Business and Professions Code § 17200, et seq., Re: Fraudulent
Business Acts and Practices) 

82. Plaintiffs re -allege and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the

preceding paragraphs as though fully set forth herein. 

83. Defendant' s conduct as set forth herein constitutes fraudulent business practices

under California Business and Professions Code §§ 17200, et seq. 

84. Defendant sold misbranded food products in California during the Class Period. 

85. 

86. Defendant' s fraudulent and deceptive marketing, advertising, packaging and

labeling of misbranded food products was likely to deceive reasonable consumers, and in fact, 

Plaintiffs and members of the Class were deceived into purchasing products with no value which

they would not have purchased had they known the truth. As a result ofDefendant' s conduct as

set forth herein, Plaintiffs and the Class seek an order providing relief as set forth herein below. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

For Violation of Business and Professions Code § 17500, et seq., Re: Misleading and
Deceptive Advertising) 

87. Plaintiffs re -allege and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the

preceding paragraphs as though fully set forth herein. 

N
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88. Plaintiffs assert this cause of action for violations of California Business and

Professions Code § 17500, et seq. for misleading and deceptive advertising against Defendant. 

89. Defendant sold misbranded food products in California during the Class Period. 

90. Defendant engaged in a scheme of offering misbranded food products for sale to

Plaintiffs and members of the Class by way of, inter alia, product packaging and labeling, and

other promotional materials. These materials misrepresented and/ or omitted the true contents and

nature of Defendant' s misbranded food products. Defendant' s advertisements and inducements

were made within California and come within the definition of advertising as contained in

Business and Professions Code § 17500, et seg. in that such product packaging and labeling, and

promotional materials were intended as inducements to purchase Defendant' s misbranded food

products and are statements disseminated by Defendant to Plaintiffs and the Class that were

intended to reach members of the Class. Defendant knew that these statements were misleading

and deceptive as set forth herein. 

91. In furtherance of its plan and scheme, Defendant prepared and distributed within

California via product packaging and labeling, and other promotional materials, statements that

misleadingly and deceptively represented the contents and nature of Defendant' s misbranded food

products. Plaintiffs and the Class necessarily and reasonably relied on Defendant' s materials, and

were the intended targets of such representations. 

92. Defendant' s conduct in disseminating misleading and deceptive statements in

California to Plaintiffs and the Class was and is likely to deceive reasonable consumers by

obfuscating the true ingredients and nature of Defendant' s misbranded food products in violation

of the " misleading prong" of California Business and Professions Code § 17500, et seq. 

93. As a result of Defendant' s violations of the " misleading prong" of California

Business and Professions Code § 17500, et seg., Defendant has been unjustly enriched at the

expense of Plaintiffs and the Class. Misbranded products cannot be legally sold or held and are

legally worthless. 

94. Plaintiffs and the Class, pursuant to Business and Professions Code § 17535, are

I entitled to an order enjoining such future conduct by Defendant, and such other orders and
25
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judgments which may be necessary to restore any money paid for Defendant' s misbranded food

products by Plaintiffs and the Class. 

FIFTH CAUSE OFACTION

For Violation of Business and Professions Code § 17500, et seq., Re: False Advertising) 

95. Plaintiffs re -allege and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the

preceding paragraphs as through fully set forth herein. 

96. Plaintiffs assert this cause of action against Defendant for violations of California

Business and Professions Code § 17500, et seq., regarding false advertising. 

97. Defendant sold misbranded food products in California during the Class Period. 

98. Defendant engaged in a scheme of offering misbranded food products for sale to

Plaintiff and the Class by way ofproduct packaging and labeling, and other promotional

materials. These materials misrepresented and/ or omitted the true contents and nature of

Defendant' s misbranded food products. Defendant' s advertisements and inducements were made

in California and come within the definition of advertising as contained in Business and

Professions Code § 17500, et seq. in that the product packaging and labeling, and promotional

materials, were intended as inducements to purchase Defendant' s misbranded food products, and

are statements disseminated by Defendant to Plaintiff and the Class. Defendant knew these

statements were untrue, false, and misleading. 

99. In furtherance of their plan and scheme, Defendant prepared and distributed in

California via product packaging and labeling, and other promotional materials, statements that

falsely advertise the ingredients contained in Defendant' s misbranded food products, and falsely

misrepresented the nature of those products. Plaintiffs and the Class were the intended targets of

such representations and would reasonably be deceived by Defendant' s materials. 

100. Defendant' s conduct in disseminating untrue advertising throughout California

deceived Plaintiffs and members of the Class by obfuscating the contents, nature and quality of

Defendant' s misbranded food products in violation of the " untrue prong" of California Business

and Professions Code § 17500. 

I /// 
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101. As a result of Defendant' s violations of the " untrue prong" of California Business

and Professions Code § 17500, et seq., Defendant has been unjustly enriched at the expense of

Plaintiffs and the Class. Misbranded products cannot be legally sold or held and are legally

worthless. 

102. Plaintiffs and the Class, pursuant to Business and Professions Code § 17535, are

entitled to an order enjoining such future conduct by Defendant, and such other orders and

judgments which may be necessary to restore any money paid for Defendant' s misbranded food

products by Plaintiff and the Class. 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

For Violation of Consumers Legal Remedies Act, Cal. Civ. Code § 1750, et seq.) 

103. Plaintiffs re -allege and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the

preceding paragraphs as though fully set forth herein. 

104. This cause of action is brought pursuant to the CLRA. This cause of action does

not currently seek monetary relief and is limited solely to injunctive relief. Plaintiffs intend to

amend this Complaint to seek monetary relief in accordance with the CLRA after the 30 day

period following notice to Defendant sent pursuant to Cal. Civ. Code § 1782. 

105. The CLRA was designed and enacted to protect consumers from unfair and

deceptive acts and practices. To this end, the CLRA sets forth a list of unfair and deceptive acts

and practices in Cal. Civ. Code § 1770. 

106. At all relevant times, Plaintiffs and members of the Class were " consumers" as that

term is defined by the CLRA in Cal. Civ. Code § 1761( d), who sought or purchased a good for

personal, family, or household use. 

107. At all relevant times, Defendant' s Skinny Pop products were a " good" under Cal. 

Civ. Code § 1761( a), given that it was a tangible chattel bought by Plaintiffs and members of the

Class for use primarily for personal, family or household purposes. 

108. At all relevant times, Defendant was a " person" under Cal. Civ. Code § 1761( c). 

I /// 
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109. At all relevant times, Plaintiffs and members of the Class engaged in

transactions" under Cal. Civ. Code § 1761( e), including purchasing and consuming Skinny Pop

I I products. 

110. Pursuant to Cal. Civ. Code § 1781, Plaintiffs bring this claim on behalf of

themselves and all members of the Class as described above. 

111.. As alleged above, Defendant has misrepresented and is likely to continue to

misrepresent the particular ingredients, characteristics, uses, benefits and quantities of the goods, 

in violation of Cal. Civ. Code § 1770(a)( 5). 

112. As alleged above, Defendant violated and continues to violate Section 1770( a)( 7) 

of the CLRA, because Defendant' s conduct constitutes unfair methods of competition and unfair

or fraudulent acts or practices in that it misrepresents the particular standard, quality or grade of

the goods. 

113. As alleged above, Defendant violated and continues to violate Section 1770( a)( 9) 

of the CLRA, because Defendant' s conduct constitutes unfair methods of competition and unfair

or fraudulent acts or practices in that it advertises goods with the intent not to sell the goods as

advertised. 

114. Plaintiffs and members of the Class were subject to the same material

misrepresentations contained on the labels as well as in the advertising and promotion of the

Skinny Pop products of Defendant. Plaintiffs and members of the Class each reasonably and

justifiably relied on Defendant' s representations that its products contained certain health

attributes when they purchased the products. 

115. Plaintiff and members of the Class would not have purchased Defendant' s

products had they known the representations regarding the health attributes of the products were

false and/ or misleading.. 

116. Defendant' s violations of Cal. Civ. Code § 1770 present a continuing threat to

Plaintiff and members of the Class in that, unless enjoined from doing so by this Court, Defendant

is likely to continue to engage in the above- described unlawful and deceptive practices, all to the

damage of Plaintiffs and the Class. 

28

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL\ 

Case4:14-cv-01005-JSW   Document1-1   Filed03/04/14   Page30 of 70



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28 1

117. Additionally, Plaintiffs seek an award of attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to Cal. 

Civ. Code § 1780( a), ( e). 

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury of their claims. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, and

on behalf of the general public, pray for judgment against Defendant as follows: 

A. For an order certifying this case as a class action and appointing Plaintiffs and their

counsel to represent the Class; 

B. For an order awarding, as appropriate, restitution to Plaintiffs and the Class for all

causes of action other than the CLRA, as Plaintiffs do not currently seek monetary

relief under the CLRA, but intend to amend their Complaint to seek such relief; 

C. For an order requiring Defendant to immediately cease and desist from selling its

misbranded food products in violation of law; enjoining Defendant from

continuing to market, advertise, distribute, and sell these products in the unlawful

manner described herein; and ordering Defendant to engage in corrective action; 

D. For all equitable remedies available pursuant to Cal. Civ. Code § 1780; 

E. For an order awarding attorneys' fees and costs; 

F. For an order awarding pre- and postjudgment interest; and

G. For an order providing such further relief as this Court deems proper. 

DATED: February 3, 2014 THE VEEN FIRM, P. C. 

CHAVEZ & GERTLER LLP

By: uwJo. than E. 

G5
lerorneysfor Plaintiffs
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NOTICE OF CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE

FQccc a CN 8 9 0 5 4 8
4C-l Z., . M'1• C... Case IVa:- _ . . 

vs. F-FLDate: 
cS/c c z o ewc-4) tA MA De®coUN Time900am

414 .. 6t pf Dept. -- on Tuesday & hursda
or Dept. - on Wednesday rI ay

You are hereby given notice of your Case Management Conference. The date, time and department have been written above. 

1. In accordance with applicable California Rules of the Court and local Rules 2. 3( d) 1- 4 and 2. 3( m), you are hereby ordered
to: 

a) Serve all named defendants and file proofs of service on those defendants with the court within 60 -days of filing
the complaint (CRC 201. 7). 

b) Serve a copy of this notice, Case Management Statement and ADR Information Sheet on all named parties in this
action. 

c) File and serve a completed Case Management Statement at least 15 -days before the Case Management

Conference [ CRC 212(g)). Failure to do so may result in monetary sanctions. 
d) Meet and confer, in person or by telephone, to consider each of the issues identified in CRC 212(f) no later than

30 -days before the date set for the Case Management Conference. 

2. If you fail to follow the orders above, you are ordered to show cause why you should not be sanctioned. The drder
to Show Cause hearing will be at the same time as the Case Management Conference hearing. Sanctions may
include monetary, evidentiary or Issue sanctions as well as striking pleadings and/ or dismissal. 

Continuances of Case Management Conferences are highly disfavored unless good cause is shown. 

4. Parties may proceed to an appropriate dispute resolution process (" ADR") by filing a Stipulation to ADR and Proposed

Order ( see attached form). If plaintiff files a Stipulation to ADR and Proposed Order electing to proceed to judicial

arbitration, the Case Management Conference will be taken off the court calendar and. the case will be referred to the

Arbitration Administrator. If plaintiffs and defendants file a completed stipulation to another ADR process (e.g., 
mediation) 10 - lays prior to the first scheduled Case Management Conference, the Case Management Conference will be

continued for 90 -days to allow parties time to complete their ADR session. The court will notify parties of their new Case
Management Conference date. 

5. If you have filed a default or a judgment has been entered, your case is not automatically taken off Case Management
Conference Calendar. If "Does", " Roes," etc. are named in your complaint, they must be dismissed in order to close the

case. If any party is •in bankruptcy, the case is stayed only as to that named party. 
6. You are further ordered to appear in person' ( or through your attorney of -record) at the Case Management Conference

noticed above. You must be thoroughly familiar with the case and fully authorized to proceed. 
7_ The Case Management judge will issue orders at the conclusion of the conference that may include: 

a) Referring parties to voluntary ADR and setting an ADR completion date; 

b) Dismissing or severing claims or parties; 

c) Setting a trial date. 
8. The Case Management judge maybe the trial judge in this case. 

For further information regarding case management policies and procedures, seethe court' s website at: www.sanmateocourt.org

Telephonic appearances at case management conferences are available by contacting Cou;tColl, LLC;-omindep,:.ndent-vet]dL;,; of leost five business days prior
to the scheduled conference (see attached CourtColl information). 
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Home Complaints/Parties Actions Minutes
Pending
Hearings

Case
Report

Images

Case Type:

Case Number:  Search

Case CIV526548 - RACHEL DOSSEY ETAL VS SKINNYPOP POPCORN LLC 

 Move To This Date

Viewed Date Action Text Disposition Image

N 
04/24/2014
9:00 AM
DEPT. 7 

CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE - Minutes  

N 

04/22/2014
9:00 AM
DEPT.
PJLM 

COMPLEX CASE STATUS CONFERENCE - Minutes  

 
03/25/2014
9:00 AM
DEPT. LM 

HEARING ON DEMURRER TO ANSWER OF SKINNYPOP POPCORN
LLC TO COMPLAINT FILED 02/03/2014 OF RACHEL DOSSEY FILED BY
RACHEL DOSSEY - Minutes 

  

N 02/19/2014 

PROOF OF SERVICE (SUB-SERVICE) OF SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT
FILED 02/03/2014 OF RACHEL DOSSEY AS TO SKINNYPOP POPCORN
LLC, BY SUB-SERVING J NOAH HAGEY, AGENT FOR SERVICE.
MAILING DATE OF 02/13/14.  

- 

 02/18/2014 COURT REPORTER FEE OF $30.00 PAID BY RACHEL DOSSEY.  -  

 02/18/2014 MOTION FEE PAID BY RACHEL DOSSEY.  -  

N 02/18/2014 
NOTICE DEMURRER AND DEMURRER TO SKINNYPOP POPCORN,
LLCS ANSWER TO COMPLAINT, MPA FILED BY RACHEL DOSSEY.  

- 

 02/13/2014 
COMPLEX LITIGATION FEE OF $1,000.00 RECEIVED FROM RACHEL
DOSSEY (PLAINTIFF).  

-  

N 02/06/2014 
(S) GENERAL DENIAL TO THE COMPLAINT FILED 02/03/2014 OF
RACHEL DOSSEY FILED BY SKINNYPOP POPCORN LLC,
REPRESENTED BY MATTHEW BROOKS BORDEN  

- 

N 02/04/2014 
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLEX CASE DESIGNATION FILED BY RACHEL
DOSSEY  - 

 02/03/2014 
ADVANCE JURY FEE POSTED BY PLAINTIFF ON BEHALF OF RACHEL
DOSSEY, LOUISE TANG.  

-  

 02/03/2014 FIRST PAPER FEE PAID BY RACHEL DOSSEY, LOUISE TANG.  -  

N 02/03/2014 CIVIL CASE COVERSHEET RECEIVED - 

N 02/03/2014 30 DAY SUMMONS, ISSUED AND FILED. - 

N 02/03/2014 (S) COMPLAINT FILED - 
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CIVIL CASE COVER SHEET ADDENDUM 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

RACHEL DOSSEY, and LOUISE TANG, on 
behalf of themselves, and on behalf of all 
others similarly situated, 

 
Plaintiffs, 
 

v. 
 
SKINNYPOP POPCORN LLC, AND DOES 1-

100, inclusive, 
 

Defendants.  
 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
 
 
 
 

Case No.  
 
CIVIL CASE COVER SHEET 
ADDENDUM 
 
Date: 
Time: 
Judge: 
 
 
 

   

J. Noah Hagey Esq. (SBN: 262331) 
 hagey@braunhagey.com 
Matthew Borden, Esq. (SBN: 214323) 

borden@braunhagey.com 
Allyson Fair, Esq. (SBN: 287926) 
    fair@braunhagey.com  
BRAUNHAGEY & BORDEN LLP 
220 Sansome Street, Second Floor 
San Francisco, CA 94104 
Telephone:  (415) 599-0210 
Facsimile:  (415) 276-1808 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT 
SKINNYPOP POPCORN LLC 
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CIVIL CASE COVER SHEET ADDENDUM 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs: 

 

William L. Veen (SBN: 043150) 

Anthony L. Label (SBN: 205920) 

Steven A. Kronenberg (SBN: 215541) 

The Veen Firm, P.C. 

711 Van Ness Ave., Suite 220 

San Francisco, CA 94102 

 

Jonathan E. Gertler (SBN: 111531) 

Dan Gildor (SBN: 223027) 

Samuel Cheadle (SBN: 268595) 

Chavez & Gertler LLP 

42 Miller Ave. 

Mill Valley, CA 94941 

 

Attorneys for Defendant: 

 

J. Noah Hagey (SBN: 262331) 

Matthew Borden (SBN: 214323) 

Allyson Fair (SBN: 287926) 

BraunHagey & Borden LLP 

220 Sansome St., Second Floor 

San Francisco, CA 94104
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